### Town of Milford Zoning Board of Adjustment December 7, 2017 Case #2017-27 Donald Claxton Special Exception

Present: Steven Bonczar, Chair J. Plourde, Vice Chair Michael Thornton Rob Costantino Wade Scott Campbell, Alternate Karin Lagro, Alternate Robin Lunn, Zoning Administrator Laura Dudziak, Board of Selectmen Representative (in audience)

Absent: Joan Dargie Tracy Steel, Alternate Tracy Steel, Alternate

Secretary: Peg Ouellette

### Case #2017-27

Donald Claxton, for property located at 32 Heritage Way, Milford, NH, Tax Map 53, Lot 48, in the Residential R district, is seeking a Special Exception of the Milford Zoning Ordinances per Article X, Section 10.02.3 to allow a Home Occupation in order to maintain the office for Champion Paving.

### MINUTES APPROVED JANUARY 18, 2018

Steve Bonczar, Chair, opened the meeting and introduced the Board members. He informed all of the procedures of the Board. M. Thornton moved that W. Scott Campbell be seated as a voting alternate for this case, seconded by J. Plourde. K. Lagro was present as a non-voting alternate; she could participate in the discussion but not vote. He read the notice of hearing.

D. Claxton and his daughter, Amanda Griffiths came forward.

D. Claxton said he had an office in his house (for Champion Paving) and his daughter was taking care of his mother and her (his daughter's) baby. Would be convenient to have a home-based office. No customers would visit the home office as it would be for record keeping and phone calls.

S. Bonczar asked him if there was anything in the application he wanted to highlight. The proposal was an office within a single-family home that would do bookkeeping, record keeping, scheduling, etc. out of that room. Anything else they wanted to highlight?

A. Griffiths said she used to work remotely in Worcester. Now she has a child and taking care of child and taking care of Donald's mother who has dementia. As far as office portion of the business, nobody coming in and out – just printing, filing, scheduling. They park four large equipment trucks at their gas station in Brookline, as mentioned in the application.

R. Costantino said he drove by Sunday and saw three large trailers. Could he explain their use?

D. Claxton said they were snowmobile trailers, for recreational use.

R. Costantino said it was a residence and noticed some of some of equipment was not for recreational use.

D. Claxton said he was getting a new porch built and it was construction workers'. Other two were his.

J. Plourde asked if trucks and equipment were from Jackson and Jackson Construction.

D. Claxton agreed Jackson and Jackson was helping with home repairs and the and the bobcat and trailer were part of the porch construction.

J. Plourde asked if renovations were to the porch, and nothing happening to the house.

A. Griffiths said the porch was for the grandmother to have a place to sit because she had difficulty walking.

A Griffiths said the trailer in the middle of the driveway was there only because D. Claxton had recently had his garage repaired . Personal snowmobile trailer in garage. Trailer in the middle of the driveway was there only because D. Claxton recently had his garage repaired. The trailer contains D. Claxton's tools and other equipment that would typically be stored in the garage. The snowmobile trailer is for D. Claxton's personal use.

J. Plourde asked if there would be no signs outside.

D. Claxton said none.

J. Plourde asked if D. Claxton lived there. D. Claxton said he did.

S. Bonczar read the specific definition of home occupation from the ordinance. Sec. 10.02.3 with the specific criteria dealing with home occupation, beyond the specific criteria for special exception in 10.02.1. He read Sec. 10.02.3, Home Occupations, into the record.

S. Bonczar then asked Robin Lunn, Zoning Administrator, if it did not exceed the 25% of combined gross floor area.

R. Lunn said that was correct.

S. Bonczar said it was within that parameter specified in 10.02.3 and asked for any questions from the Board.

J. Plourde asked if A. Griffiths lives in the house.

A. Griffiths said she did not.

J. Plourde asked if she would be considered the non-resident employee as part of this home office special exception? A. Griffiths said that she would be.

S. Bonczar opened the meeting for public comment. Since there were no microphones, he requested people to come to the table and speak into the phone recorder, state their name and address, and address any comments to the Chair.

Karen Files of 28 Heritage Way, Mr. Claxton's next door neighbor had concerns. This business had been there for a long time. Heavy equipment was there, and then it wasn't. For whatever reason, it wasn't stored at the gas station in Brookline. Almost all of last summer it (the heavy trucks and equipment) was were parked next door to her. Employees would arrive at approximate 6:15 a.m., drive away with all heavy equipment. A noise concern being awoken by the trucks around 6:30 a.m. in their residential neighborhood. Definite concern that there would likely be another time when heavy equipment can't be stored at the gas station. It had happened in the past and since it has happened in the past and where else would the equipment go. That equipment probably will go right back next door (to D. Claxton's house)

which is a huge concern. She provided pictures taken recently. She pointed out where her truck was, and where she believed D. Claxton's truck with open trailer was. A personal vehicle on the circle. Multiple times in the summer big equipment trailers parked on the circle, blocking traffic trying to get around the circle. They live on a cul-de-sac. Generally, cul-de-sacs are desirable to people with families. Equipment may not be there right now (because of the time of year), but is concerned big equipment would come back at some period. Picture was minimal of what happened this summer. This had been a good year because they were busy, but at expense of her and of other neighbors getting woken up. Possibly a pattern. If Don and his daughter could say that never, ever will this come back she might be a small percentage in agreeable to this. But, she cannot believe this because there is a pattern of the heavy equipment being there and then it was gone and then back again. There was a covered trailer which they said had personal equipment in it. K. Files saw this truck and the covered trailer being driven down R. 101A and Don wasn't driving it. That driver didn't park in Don's driveway but actually in his yard. There are other non-residential people coming to this address, and this happened even as recently as today. What happens when equipment no longer stored in Brookline? Equipment repair takes place in the garage, which takes some serious pounding. If the garage doors were closed, would probably be quieter, but a paving company works summer to late fall and early winter. It is noisy. They have heard diesel engines starting, running, air brakes, backup signals, chains rattling, ramps being slammed down. Showing up 6 to 6:30, trucks parking on the grass, ruining the grassy area. Large tire tracks. Tar surrounding the circle very broken up because of heavy equipment parking there. On the other circle (at the other end of Heritage Way), not a lot of breakage. She was personally not in support of all this noise. This business will be there with the Board's approval or not. She bought her house in 2003 and it started in 2005. Tried to be a good neighbor and not complain. But this is a residential area. What recourse would she have when a decision is made and it is going to be there anyway? Don gave no indication of it ending; he is not going to retire soon. Covenants said this was a residential area.

S. Bonczar said covenants would be a separate matter to be handled outside in a private forum. Board can't take that into consideration. He asked D. Claxton to respond to Ms. Files' comments

D. Claxton said equipment was parked at gas station for 13 years. Occasionally, they work on his property and big trucks are there. The picture (shown by K. Files) shows the bobcat on his property because he had a water pipe burst that needed to be repaired last week. He had to take his guys off a job to find and fix the broken water gate. He does bring equipment home so he can work on his property. Generally, the mechanic works on site or at his home in Henniker. They do bring stuff home.

A. Griffiths said there was a truck that broke down nearby and the mechanic needed to repair it at D. Claxton's home.

D. Claxton said it was sitting in his driveway three days. Rare thing. Not happening constantly.

A. Griffiths said they were paving at the house this year. Equipment would be used to load things in and out of the house.

D. Claxton told Ms. Files he was driving the truck that day.

A. Griffiths said it was his personal truck that was lettered. It was him driving that day.

S. Bonczar asked about what would be Plan B if he couldn't park in Brookline.

D. Claxton said he was looking at parking on Steve Trombly land.

A. Griffiths said trucks would not fit on the property. There was a pickup truck. An estimate vehicle. And one ton dump truck.

S. Bonczar asked if they had tri-axles coming.

A. Griffiths said no.

S. Bonczar understood what they were doing with the home office made sense. Idea is that with a home office in a residential area you can't have equipment that is for the business outside.

M. Thornton quoted from 10.02.3 A.2. that there shall be no evidence outside the dwelling, except permitted signs and required off-street parking, that the dwelling contains a home occupation.

A. Griffiths said that D. Claxton had a lot of - two or three personal trailers, 6 snowmobiles, and 3 or 4 dirt bikes. Working on tidying it up and making things look nicer. This is why a lot of the equipment has

been there recently. Office was separate issue that A. Griffiths is working on, while D. Claxton is working on cleaning up the outside.

S. Bonczar agreed it was separate issue, but the same business. To have the home office legally, which was allowable by special exception, there were certain rules and criteria.

A. Griffiths said equipment to put down driveways was at the gas station on trailer pulled by the tractor. S. Bonczar said he had a Kabota but he could have a Bobcat.

J. Plourde said, based on the picture (K. Files had presented), how often were they parking around the center of the oval?

K. Files asked if he meant this summer.

J. Plourde said in general.

K. Files said, in summer, almost every day.

J. Plourde said, not just when trying to move a vehicle out of the driveway?

K. Files didn't know what went on. Employees show up at 6:15 or 6:30 a.m., waking her up. Then all the noisy trucks would go. At end of the day she thought there was an order they had to go in (the driveway). At times they were there possibly for hours. She was not saying it was all day. Her husband witnessed a couple of situations where the vehicle crossed the road. You couldn't dive around the circle. Couldn't say how many days or times. She kept air conditioning on and windows down for it to be a little quieter. It happened fairly regularly.

S. Bonczar asked if that was this past summer.

K. Files said yes. In prior years trucks were parked in such a way. As business was growing, there was more equipment bought. Two were personal vehicles. Long trailer on one. Times there were things on that and ramps had to be dropped down; it was noisy.

J. Plourde said this time of year there is no paving.

K. Files said she is also not having windows open.

S. Bonczar asked D. Claxton about this.

D. Claxton didn't remember this summer being any busier than any other.

A. Griffiths said they used to have employees park there (at D. Claxton's house). No employee cars parked in the circle or in the area any longer.

K. Files said that was recent when they were parking elsewhere.

A. Griffiths said it was the whole year.

K. Files said no.

A. Griffiths said they had a lot of personal cars.

S. Bonczar said there was a fine line with what was business and what was for personal use. Anybody else?

Peter Michaels of 41 Heritage Way said he had lived there since 1985. One of the attractions was it was a nice residential community off a main street. No trucks coming through. Safe for kids. Now his concern with his grandkids. While trucks don't go on his side, he does see trucks coming in. He has retired and thinking of selling their house. Wondered about the value of his property with a lot of trucks coming around there. He was supportive of the home office but concerned with truck traffic. Board to make a decision that ensures these trucks don't happen again. doesn't want to happen what happened this past summer again. If trucks not there it wouldn't be an issue as far as he was concerned.

S. Bonczar said the Board could put a condition on an approval. Hoped Mr. Claxton wanted to be a good neighbor and wanted his business to grow; and as it grows, it is not an efficient place to have things (business trucks and equipment) at his house. A more permanent solution would need to be found as far as repairing & storing equipment etc. The office could be done in the home but it would seem, as they get busier and bigger, they would not want to have their trucks coming into the cul-de-sac.

D. Claxton said he already didn't want the trucks and employees at his house and is working on it (a solution).

S. Bonczar said part of it (the issues being raised by neighbors) may be from past behavior reflected, but he wanted to keep it in mind but didn't want that to penalize the applicant. He asked for any other comments.

Doug Sanborn of 47 Heritage Way said he lives at the other end and didn't see a lot of what was being discussed. However, seeing more (trucks) as time goes on. This summer several times getting from Colburn onto Heritage Way, he had to back up his vehicle because a tractor trailer was coming out. Road not equipped for big trucks. As far as Don is concerned, he has watched his company grow. He said Don was a good man and worked very hard to achieve that goal. But not at the expense of a residential road. When he talked to a prior selectman, and asked him if it was safe to live in that area as he was one of the first people to live on Heritage Way. Expansion in Milford is so large. Selectman said "you are safe there." It didn't appear so now. Big question with children in the road. With an office, there will be more traffic. It will not be just by phone. Don does an excellent job with paving, but it has to be someplace else. Hoping D. Claxton could rent or buy a plot of land large enough to store his equipment. D. Sanborn wished something could remedy this.

J. Plourde asked, for clarification, that D. Sanborn said if the office was in there, there would be more traffic. What was he basing that on? Considering customer traffic or trucks?

D. Sanborn said both. Pickup trucks, some equipped with blades?

D. Claxton said none of them.

D. Sanborn said no plowing in and out. Could they say there would not be customer traffic going into the office? If he were going to do something with asphalt, he would try to go in and see examples what he does. Potential customers would like to see pictures or samples of his work. After he gets big enough you would probably start seeing that – If you want to see sample, come to my house. It would eventually happen. Didn't want it to snowball anymore.

J. Plourde asked applicant when he was working with customers, was he was generally going to meet them on site or at their (customer's) home?

D. Claxton said almost always. Never had a customer come to his house.

J. Plourde asked if they provided pictures or smaples for customers to see?

D. Claxton said it was on-line for customers to see. Also provide phone numbers to ask questions A. Griffiths said there was a photo book and I-Pad.

Natacha Decastro of 38 Heritage Way and Patricia Bravo of same address said they were the newest neighbors – moved in about 5 years ago. N. Decastro works overnight. Gets woken up by big trucks in early afternoon. When they first moved in it looked like the house across the street was remodeling because there were piles of gravel or whatever in the back yard. Moved in July of 2001. It has been getting more every year. This summer was pretty bad. A lot of activity. They bought their house to live in a quiet residential area. To move in and have a noisy business in the neighborhood was very disturbing. Last year they decided to put house on the market. It didn't go through. Problem with the buyer. Put it back on the market. One of the feedbacks was the business being right across the street (Champion Paving). House didn't sell. Took it off the market late August. As far as a home office she believed it would revert back to bringing back the trucks. Hasn't seen them the last couple of weeks but winter is coming and business not booming.

P. Bravo said the last two weeks every morning trucks picking up something from the trailer. They have an easement (between their properties) and somebody parked in the easement and applicant had some type of plow or something in there. To access it, they have to go onto her property. Trucks line up around (the cul-de-sac) and many times she has to tell them to move so she can get out.

S. Bonczar asked if they were pickup trucks.

P. Bravo said the last two weeks it was pickup trucks, but before that he had trucks with trailers. They make a lot of noise. Sometimes they park in the circle. She has a child and won't let him play in the culde-sac because of the trucks. Right now, D. Claxton is doing some remodeling. She hears trucks every morning getting her son to school. Now it is pickup trucks but it was big trucks.

S. Bonczar asked applicant why any trucks needed to come to the house.

D. Claxton said they do not.

S. Bonczar wanted to say OK, but could that many people be wrong? Trying to understand why trucks would be there anyway. They should be going to the job site.

A. Griffiths said they had a couple of jobs (at the house), taking out concrete steps and other work, and had to bring trucks in. They hired contractors to come in and finish. A lot of this this year's use has been for personal purposes. They hired a contractor to finish up some things. They don't have employees parking at the house or in the easement any more.

K. Lagro asked if employees pick up material at the house.

D. Claxton said no materials.

K. Lagro asked if they came to the house at all.

D. Claxton said sometimes in their pickup trucks.

A. Griffiths said D. Claxton had a 28 ft. trailer. Right now it was in the yard because there are two trailers was in front for the remodeling. Probably most of the reason the big trucks are there. Next year they are residing the house and redoing the lawn and putting in irrigation.

S. Bonczar asked if it (trucks and trailers) had their name on it.

A. Griffiths said they have the name on it. They have complaints from people driving on Amherst St. that they are driving too slow or don't put their blinkers on. This is how picky people are, not just at their house but they follow them everywhere.

Just because you live next door you are going to check on our drivers? – that is how picky they are. S Bonczar asked for further public comment. None.

S. Bonczar said the photo provided (by K. Files) would be Exhibit A for the file. He read a letter dated12/4/17 signed by Aileen Cormier, 57 Heritage Way saying she filed a complaint in the past about this paving company relating to large business paving vehicles historically parking in the driveway and yard. It was large equipment used in paving. In January 2016 she provided pictures of homes in the neighborhood. Since A. Cormier didn't find it was in the zoning file she attached the original photos again. She quoted from Sec. 10.02.3 re only one nonresident employee. She has seen multiple trucks and employees waiting to go to a job from this residence, but there is only one employee who lives at this residence. Doubted only one nonresident working out of there. Thinks it was obvious the business operated from there because of the presence of trucks with the business logo. Other photos in zoning violation file by other residents. She attached photos of 12/3/17. The home business impairs residential character of the residence. Negative impact on entire neighborhood, property values. When they bought it was because the safety of the double cul-de-sac was appealing. It was a safe neighborhood for kids because of limited number of vehicles. If she still had young kids she'd be concerned. Understands owner wants to put a sign for his business. What is intent of this sign? Very little nonresidential traffic on the street. Exasperating to other residents that this business exists. Is the intent to have customers drive into the neighborhood and engage in business transactions? Would negate the reason they chose the neighborhood. Business has been there many years with apparent disregard for Sec. C. They have temporarily moved equipment away from the property but still gets unsightly nonresidential vehicles. Concern that without consistent monitoring the paving equipment will return to previous state. Signed by Aileen Cormier.

S. Bonczar said a lot of the points were addressed in the discussion. He read another letter dated 11/27/17 addressed to Robin Lunn from Brian LaSalle. Writer spoke to Robin on the phone re this case. He and his wife would be away on 12/7/17 and wanted to voice approval of special exception for Champion Paving. It was discussed at their annual meeting on 11/16/17 – he is one of three elected officers of the homeowners association. He wanted it known they had no specific issue with this special exception. Signed by Brian J. Lasalle.

S. Bonczar asked the Board for any other questions for the applicant before closing public comment. M. Thornton asked if applicant was sure that, except for work done on the property, the heavy equipment for the paving business would not be there anymore.

A. Griffiths said yes, with the exception of personal Bobcat and trailers.

M. Thornton said they might be parked in back or on the side.

D. Claxton said on the side.

M. Thornton said there seemed to be no problem with the home office itself by neighbors. Only the heavy equipment, trailers and trucks. Suggested a condition that there be no heavy equipment parked or stored at his home.

D. Claxton said that would be fine.

S. Bonczar knew that would probably be necessary after looking at case, if the Board were to approve this special exception.

K. Files said B. Lasalle did not speak for the association. He was just a member. He was a leader but had no authority to speak on behalf of the entire organization.

D. Sanborn asked what constituted heavy equipment.

D. Claxton said tri- axle trucks and ten-wheelers, trailers with heavy equipment.

D. Sanborn said long trailers. It was mentioned when they take heavy equipment off and on it made a lot of noise. Neighbors would even hear the banging with smaller pieces coming on and off trailers. In that area larger trucks should only there temporarily if someone wanted a delivery– but to have them come in and out all the time – no.

K. Lagro said in addition he was talking about a home occupation. Only one nonresident employee.

S. Bonczar said no, only one nonresident could occupy the office.

R. Lunn said not to move into deliberations.

Shirley Blase of 61 Heritage Way, one of the officers of the Heritage Way homeowner's association – secretary of the homeowner's association spoke. President of the association not present. Brian Lasalle was treasurer. She was at the meeting with other homeowners. There was a conflict. It was brought up about concerns from a few of the neighbors not present at this meeting about their debate. The association really only manages the water in the association. It was felt if they needed to complain and needed to be at zoning. For clarification, there was no consent from neighbors at the meeting.

S. Bonczar said he read what was received from Brian LaSalle.

A. Griffiths thought the trailer everybody mentioned was on D. Claxton's daily truck, the 28 ft. trailer. It was a personal trailer being used for business right now because they were looking at replacing the one for the business that broke. It was Don's personal vehicle. If he worked for someone else, he would have a truck and trailer he would need to bring to the job site every day.

N. Decastro said every single morning there are pickup trucks picking up trailers.

D. Claxton said not now.

N. Decastro said she hasn't seen workers or big trucks the last couple of weeks. But they make a lot of noise when all three come together every morning. Didn't think pickup trucks should be there. What is guarantee of that?

S. Bonczar said there were no guarantees in life.

N. Decastro asked why you (D. Claxton) need to operate a business in a business neighborhood?

S. Bonczar said applicant was there for a home occupation which was allowable by special exception and it was for Board to review whether those conditions were met for that home office. Kind of a unique case. That is what they would be deliberating.

N. Decastro said she didn't know Brian Lasalle, but she spoke to him on the phone. He said he didn't want to say anything because he was a friend of D. Claxton. He said "I help him out; he helps me out."

S. Bonczar said he couldn't comment on that but only read into the record the letter came into the office.

J. Plourde said to Ms. DeCastro being there to voice concerns was as important as a letter. Didn't want her to think they were brushing it aside.

A. Griffiths said another time they had equipment in the neighborhood it was to grade the property to add sand to the road to the pump house.

S. Bonczar said it sounded like they had a lot of trailers.

K. Files said B. Lasalle said the same thing to her, that D. Claxton helped him on a few occasions – the same thing he said to N. Decastro. B. Lasalle said he leaves at 6 a.m. and doesn't hear the noise from the employees. B. Lasalle is on Colburn Rd., further away from the noise. She was told by S. Blase that B. LaSalle mentioned to her that in this meeting (of the association) there was some concern brought up and that he was supposed to talk to D. Claxton about those concerns from the entire neighborhood. Based on

her (K. Files) conversation with B. Lasalle, it didn't seem that he was going to do that because D. Claxton was a friend. He didn't want to alienate a friend by saying there were a lot of complaints at the association meeting and he needed to do something about it. She supported what N. Decastro said, that Brian Lasalle was a little outside the circle.

J. Plourde said he didn't want this to come across the wrong way, but B. Lasalle wasn't there to defend himself. The Board still had to keep an open mind.

S. Bonczar asked if there were any other comments.

R. Costantino asked the Chair, referring to someone mentioning they were going to sell their house but the real estate agent or somebody said it wasn't so easy because of what was going on at the subject property. He wanted to know if they (N. Decastro and P. Bravo) had something in writing supporting that. Can he ask that?

S. Bonczar said he guessed so.

N. Decosta didn't have anything in writing. Can get it. The house is off the market. People didn't want to live there with kids there because of the trucks.

S. Bonczar asked for anything further from the Board.

M. Thornton asked how many personal trailers applicant needed to use every day.

D. Claxton said one.

M. Thornton said there should be once a day coming and going in the morning and in the afternoon.

D. Claxton said yes. Would have it in Brookline (at his gas station property) but it had been broken into before.

S. Bonczar asked if there was logo on it.

D. Claxton said no.

J. Plourde said he wouldn't want to have his tools stolen or trucks broken into if left at the Brookline location.

D. Claxton said he had axe marks where locks were broken. The larger trucks that are still down there have had their brakes tinkered with and cb radios stolen. They are looking to see if they can store their vehicles and equipment at S. Trombly's property.

A. Griffiths & D. Claxton said they had had things broken into. D. Claxton said they were looking at moving trucks to Trombly land. They have large truck parked there overnight. They don't start from the house.

S. Bonczar asked for anything else.

J. Plourde said there was very limited chance of vandalism at Trombly, if that was considered, compared to Brookline.

D. Claxton agreed. S. Trombly approached him a few weeks ago and offered that.

R. Lunn said Trombly Farm permit was not currently approved for this use.

J. Plourde asked not currently?

R. Lunn said the site plan didn't allow for this proposal. Would have to get site plan approval to allow somebody else's equipment to be stored there.

S. Bonczar closed public comment. Wanted to go over questions and get a feel of findings of fact for specific home occupation criteria before going to the five questions for special exception.

### 1. Does the person conducting the home occupation live in the dwelling unit?

S. Bonzcar thought they all agreed

J. Plourde said yes based on the application and testimony provided.

But there should be no more than one nonresident employee in connection with the home?

M. Thornton said that was correct.

S. Bonczar read from the ordinance Article X, Sec. 10.02.3 "there shall be no more than one (1) non-resident person employed in connection with such occupation." He said basically that means within the unit. That was the intent.

M. Thornton said the application stated the homeowner and one other person.

K. Lagro asked if you could divide a business into segments.

S. Bonczar said they were discussing the space itself.

K. Lagro said you could have employees coming in for checks and other things.

M. Thornton said it referred to working in the dwelling – not visiting.

S. Bonczar said that was the intent.

K. Lagro said if you are picking up and getting other information (from the home office), there was more than one employee.

J. Plourde interpreted the second part, as the home occupation was a business and there was more than one person that works for the business. The first part was fine with one person conducting the home occupation being a resident in the dwelling. But this business has more than one nonresident person working with the company.

M. Thornton said but not more than one nonresident works in the home office.

J. Plourde commented it said the ordinance stated in connection with the use.

S. Bonczar said it was poorly worded, but they were talking about office within the dwelling. That is how he read it.

J. Plourde read it differently.

R. Costantino said they were talking about the office.

S. Bonczar said there couldn't be twenty people working in that home as part of the occupation. J. Plourde said it came into play with what K. Lagro mentioned with people coming in to pick up checks. It was a matter of controlling amount of traffic coming in and out. Intent was to have the homeowner and one nonresident as the only traffic going in and out of the home occupation. S. Bonczar said what if you had an accountant or a beauty salon. It fit in this. That was more intense than the proposed use as far as coming and going. They don't have a clear definition of types of business that can have home occupation and reside within a space within a dwelling. It doesn't say you can only have a barber shop, etc. In the past they have had a beauty shop or dog training. He looked at it that you are talking about whether you have a homeowner and one single employee primarily in that office space.

J. Plourde under definition of home occupation it said "Any use conducted entirely within a dwelling or an accessory building which is clearly incidental and secondary to the use of the dwelling for dwelling purposes and does not change the character thereof" and it says "and in connection with which there is no outside display or storage, nor emission of dust, noise, fumes, vibration or smoke beyond the lot line." There was definitely outside storage. Different from a beauty salon or something like that, it (this proposed use) could change the character of the primary dwelling unit if you have trucks coming and going all day. But I would think employees and trucks coming in (to the home office) to pick up checks or not changed the intent of a home occupation.

M. Thornton read it as one other full time employee in the home office.

W. Campbell read it as homeowner/occupant plus one nonresident.

J. Plourde said if the comma wasn't there, he might agree.

## 2. Is there no evidence outside the dwelling, except permitted signs and required off- street parking, that the dwelling contains a home occupation?

S. Bonczar said that was a little sticky in that prior behavior had been discussed, but he felt that applicant had, in his opinion, addressed that.

M. Thornton wanted a condition that heavy equipment that is not working on the property, return to a location other than his home.

S. Bonczar agreed. If they approve, part of the approval would be some type of condition so that it was in the spirit of the ordinance re home occupation. There was testimony that prior behavior hadn't reflected that, but wanted to give applicant the benefit of the doubt - based on what he said - that he would follow through on plans and that there would not be anything other than personal vehicles on his property, which could be a pickup truck and personal trailers; but no tri-axles and rollers, etc. specifically related to the business.

K. Lagro said sometimes the best predictor of future behavior was past behavior. There was prior violation and a week later the same violation. So, how do we make sure that this will not continue to happen?

S. Bonczar said if this moved forward they would put a condition on it. Hoped that the applicant, like any other, would abide by that. Otherwise it would be up to the Building Inspector and Planning Office to enforce.

R. Costantino said in this particular one, it seemed like confusion between their personal vehicles and of the company vehicles. Applicant had a lot of big personal vehicles which most residents don't have. In his opinion on this question, would give him benefit of the doubt as long as no business vehicles were parked on the property.

J. Plourde said other than his own personal vehicles.

R. Costantino agreed other than his own personal vehicles.

K. Lagro asked if his own vehicles would include trucks that come every day. Neighbors said they come in the morning and pick up.

M. Thornton asked if that was re the 28 ft. trailer.

K. Lagro said

M. Thornton said applicant testified that won't happen anymore and any approval would be conditioned upon that. If they bust the condition, the approval for the home office is eliminated. J. Plourde said because that was part of the criteria for the home occupation. If the homeowner moved out, then the special exception would go away?

S. Bonczar said it would mean the town would have to enforce and probably there would be litigation. It didn't necessarily mean the approval ended automatically. It is up to the Town to enforce it. He commented it wasn't as simple as it suddenly being eliminated.

### 3. The home occupation does not exceed 25% of the combined gross floor area.

S. Bonczar said they heard it was within the requirement.

M. Thornton said it was 12 and change.

# 4. Accessory finished good may be provided for sale in conjunction with the home occupation, sold and stored in allowed home occupation space only.

M. Thornton said there was ancillary equipment there.

S. Bonczar said it wasn't for sale. That would not apply.

# 5. The home occupation and the conduct thereof shall not impair the residential character of the premises nor impair the reasonable use, enjoyment and value of other residential property in the neighborhood.

S. Bonczar said this was what one of the residents mentioned. No issue with reason for home occupation. But if the applicant continued to do things that have been done in the past, this was a huge issue. Bringing heavy equipment in conjunction with the use of the home office. Applicant, from what he could tell, said that action was diminishing and ending. But he was still concerned. M. Thornton said one exception mentioned any work being done at his property by that equipment. That would be allowable because any of the neighbors that wanted a driveway paved or such, that would have a big truck, which would be understandable. But not on a continual basis.

R. Costantino had a problem where it talked about home occupation not impairing the value of other residential property in the neighborhood. There was mention that one person thought it did impair their property in the neighborhood because what he heard was they were told by a real estate agent that (the paving business across the street) was a negative in trying to sell. Would have liked to have that in writing.

J. Plourde asked if they were trying to separate the home occupation from the actual business that has been conducted on the property and has been discarding the zoning violations. He thought the home occupation by itself was okay to have it there. His issue was not having heavy equipment for the business on the property. If they put in an office in that porch area, is that going to diminish value of other property? Didn't think so. But other things going on could.

Other board members agreed.

J. Plourde said this was an opportunity to get control of it (the zoning violations) with any decision they made and being able to control the operation on that property.

S. Bonczar thought he was right. D. Claxton was bringing things into conformity. This was the right thing to do.

M. Thornton said re the enforcement action, on the second page there was a picture - the right hand photo in the middle to the right of the Bobcat it looked to be, in the next picture down, two rollers for flattening. That was obviously business equipment. Didn't know if that was for work on the property or not.

S. Bonczar pointed out that the picture was take in 2015.

M. Thornton said he was talking about past behavior.

S. Bonczar said what J. Plourde brought up sort of covered it, some of the ancillary things he has been doing outside (the home) clouds things.

K. Lagro said there had been justifiable claims that business had been running out of the home for many years. Not sure what difference between that and asking for home office.

S. Bonczar said it brings it into conformity with zoning.

J. Plourde asked if what she (K. Lagro) was saying was, what's the difference between yesterday and tomorrow. He agreed. But thought he (D. Claxton) was trying to make it legal as far as the home occupation.

K. Lagro said one of the neighbors said that this would kind of give them license to continue running the business out of the house.

W. Campbell said we would likely place conditions as part of the special exception.

S. Bonczar said it allowed them to continue it legally as a home occupation, yes.

J. Plourde expressed concern with past and continued truck activity with the impact on the neighborhood. They would want to word any decision and condition very carefully.

K. Lagro said they could come in for a home occupation. No problem. But if you repeatedly have multiple people coming in pre 6:30 a.m. does that impact the character of the neighborhood and their enjoyment of their property?

M. Thornton said he heard applicant say there would be one pickup and 28 ft. trailers coming in and back at night. That was his equipment for the work. And none of the other equipment would be on the property unless it was working on the property. Thought that was allowed.

S. Bonczar wanted to go to the higher level and get a feel for this case re the special exception criteria.

### A. Is the proposed use similar to those permitted in the district?

R. Costantino – they were allowed a home occupation by special exception in the district. S. Bonczar – when they say district, it is the zoning area. Not going down to the neighborhood, but that Res. R district of the town. It was an acceptable use by special exception in Res. R. He asked if any felt otherwise? None.

### B. Is the specific site an appropriate location for the proposed use?

W. Campbell believed it was, but for what was entitled for the office use only. Not an appropriate location for heavy equipment, noise, truck traffic. If it was separates as just an office as what the applicant intends, he would say yes for an office. Not for construction vehicles or paving equipment.

J. Plourde agreed. As far as an office, it will be in a residence and one nonresident person. As far as other activities that have been taking place, that was not an appropriate location for them. M. Thornton – he expressed his opinion with the conditions. That there would be no heavy equipment there unless it was working on the property, and not staying overnight.

W. Campbell – there was no heavy equipment and agrees if it was working on the property and leaving – not staying overnight.

J. Plourde asked if M. Thornton would consider furniture delivery to be considered heavy equipment. Wanted to make sure deliveries wouldn't be part of the condition.

M. Thornton said if you ordered concrete, that truck would be there awhile.

J. Plourde said they shouldn't have materials or equipment sitting or stored outside the home. Not the right location for that.

M. Thornton said the 28 ft trailer was what he had a problem with. Understood applicant's concern with safety when having it there until he can find a better place.

S. Bonczar said they needed to be very careful. Fine line between what is used for the business that should not be stored or parked there and what is considered personal. Didn't want to restrict applicant from being able to drive home with his personal truck he used for work and park it in the yard, the same as a plumber being able to drive his plumbing vehicle and park it in the yard. But they don't want storage of heavy equipment, materials, dump trucks, paving machine or roller, etc. Those don't belong there. But if applicant goes from a job to his home and parks his trailer, S. Bonczar would not want a condition to exclude that ability to do that.

K. Lagro referred to neighbors mentioning additional employees coming and going.

S. Bonczar said it came down to a he said/ she said. If they set a condition they want to make sure the intent is that this home occupation stays within the spirit of the ordinance and allows home occupation but with respect to other homeowners adjacent and around the subject property. Wanted to make sure it was fair to everyone – applicant and homeowners around the subject. There is a balance there.

### C. Will the use as developed not adversely affect the adjacent area?

S. Bonczar said this was similar as the site being an appropriate location.

J. Plourde asked if they were specifically talking about the office home occupation?

S. Bonczar said yes, based on how applicant intended to utilize that space and run his business out of there.

M. Thornton said if they perform as the application stated, didn't think any adverse effect. But not if trailer pulls up with two axles with heavy duty equipment and left there overnight. This would go against what we are trying to condition.

J. Plourde asked, (the truck) parked in the road or drive?

M. Thornton said both. Talking one truck and one 28 ft. trailer used in the business that are D. Claxton's.

J. Plourde said D. Claxton's daughter will also have a car. Want to make sure they are careful in whatever they say in the condition.

R. Costaninto said he was still struggling with it as far as adversely affecting the area. Certainly a home office as discussed wouldn't be expected to. But five neighbors say it has already been used as a business. Not sure how to enforce a condition on it.

M. Thornton said there were vigilant neighbors. If conditions not adhered to, there would be complaints.

W. Campbell said with the amount of testimony from the surrounding neighbors they would be vocal to the Town if not adhered to. Applicant will need to be in compliance.

M. Thornton – didn't hear neighbors say they would mind an office, with absence of the equipment.

W. Campbell said one person did.

### D. Will there be no nuisance or serious hazard to vehicles or pedestrians?

W. Campbell - didn't think so.

S. Bonczar – State of affairs today, maybe so. But for the proposed use.

J. Plourde – As long as there was long enough drive to accommodate his truck and personal trailer and his daughter's car.

S. Bonczar said it sounded like it has been. Issue was with additional vehicles.

J. Plourde – as long as she didn't have to park in the street. Parking in the road, especially in the winter, could be a nuisance and a hazard.

## **E.** Will adequate appropriate facilities be provided for the proper operation of the proposed use?

J. Plourde – for the home occupation, yes

 $M. \ Thornton-thought \ that \ was \ met$ 

S. Bonczar - no problem there

 $W. \ Campbell-agreed$ 

S. Bonczar said they would have to craft a condition. They all agreed there had to be so it doesn't slip back into a bad situation. Sec. 10.02.3 said there should be no outside evidence that dwelling contains a home occupation. Condition would be a little more explicit. Definition of home occupation stated that it was secondary use, didn't change the character of neighborhood, no outside display or storage or emission of dust, fumes, noise, etc. It was in the ordinance but thought that everybody had a concern during the discussion, so as they vote on this, the vote needed to contain a condition re storage of vehicles and materials. He would a suggestion, and the rest of the Board could edit it.

S. Bonczar suggested "there shall be no outside storage of materials and/or equipment as well as no parking of vehicles relating to the business on the property." Thought there should be a notation added because applicant testified he has used his truck primarily for personal but it had his logo on it. Didn't want that to be a violation.

J. Plourde suggested saying other than his primary vehicle.

M. Thornton said he will have a truck and trailer. He can't have heavy equipment, hauler equipment, or trucks stored overnight. But they could have it to work on the premises – then they have to go away.

J. Plourde said they don't want storage of material.

S. Bonczar – what does he add? Except for?

M. Thornton – for the pickup truck and trailers.

J. Plourde - homeowner's primary vehicle.

S. Bonczar – "there shall be no outside storage of materials and/or equipment as well as no parking of vehicles related to the business on the property, except for a company business vehicle.

M. Thornton said on or adjacent to the premises – equipment on the street is adjacent to the property. J. Plourde – there was also testimony about parking in the easement.

S. Bonczar – if this were a hired contractor to do work, then vehicles might be stored on the property until the work was done. Applicant has ability to use his own equipment to do his own work, whether it be grading or digging a drainage trench. S. Bonczar said he put up a steel building a few years ago and there were some things he didn't do overnight. It took couple of months to get electrical trench done and at times there was equipment in the yard. Didn't want to have a situation where it looked like applicant was violating the ordinance because he had equipment for his own personal needs there.

J. Plourde – to work on his own property.

S. Bonczar – right. They know the overall intent was that they don't want heavy equipment there. Do they want to get too specific?

W. Campbell – how do we know applicant won't use that long term that every six months he is working on the property?

J. Plourde – that was why they needed to be specific and as detailed as they can, only because of other past violations and other uncertainties.

M. Thornton – even if he has heavy equipment working there, it shouldn't be parked in the circle overnight.

J. Plourde agreed.

K. Lagro – that is a timing issue. Should not be done ever. It is a safety issue.

M. Thornton, W. Campbell and J. Plourde agreed.

S. Bonczar – they were not lawyers. Their intent was good. They don't want that heavy equipment stored on the property.

J. Plourde –re the abutting property, suggested putting in "not on abutting properties, easements or public rights of way."

M. Thornton – that was why he said adjacent. Meaning equipment in any immediate area.

J. Plourde – that is a gray area. Wanted to be specific with their condition to avoid confusion.

W. Campbell – If not nailed down.

S. Bonczar – suggested "on the property or easements or public rights of way."

After brief discussion S. Bonczar suggested "There shall be no outside storage of materials and/or equipment as well as no parking of vehicles related to the business on the property, abutting properties, public rights of way or easements, except for a company vehicle used for his own primary use."

K. Lagro said specifically there is a home occupation. It is not just general office. Not more than applicant and one other person. Others didn't want to do that.

M. Thornton thought it was already covered on the application.

K. Lagro – one of the complaints was that other employees come in at 6:30 in the morning.

R. Costantino didn't think they were going to the office.

K. Lagro said they were going to the house. If you read it as strictly one non-resident employee, then other employees should not be there.

M. Thornton believed they were going to the equipment to get it for that day. If equipment not stored there, they would have no reason to be there at 6:30 a.m.

J. Plourde understood K. Lagro's point. That is why the condition on the home occupation didn't disregard activity outside the home. Don't want employees coming to the home. Trying to be specific and covering themselves and helping the neighbors.

W. Campbell – any specific time for the office?

J. Plourde – hours of operation for the office would matter (for the home office)? It would be more for the equipment. Which they were trying to remove from the property. Didn't see home office or occupation being an issue for the hours.

M. Thornton – you have a pattern. He leaves about 6:30 and goes with vehicle and trailer and comes back at some time during the day and parks them. Not to and fro (with that truck & trailer). From the way applicant explained it, he goes to the customer to do estimates and sales. There is no traffic to the office except for every two weeks someone picks up a paycheck if the paycheck is delivered on site to employees. Didn't see that as an issue. He saw the issue as coming to get the equipment at 6:30 a.m. if it was located at the office site.

S. Bonczar wanted to see if they agreed on the wording of the condition and then take a vote and have motion whether to include that in the approval or disapproval.

M. Thornton said conditioned upon

S. Bonczar suggested "there shall be no outside storage of materials and/or equipment as well as no parking of vehicles related to the business on the property, easements. or public rights of way except for a company vehicle used for the applicant's own primary use.

R. Costantino said that made him think of the other person.

J. Plourde said good thought. The other vehicle (A. Griffith's) wasn't a company vehicle. It was her own personal vehicle.

S. Bonczar said it could be a pickup truck.

S. Bonczar – they were talking about a work vehicle. But applicant uses a company vehicle to get around – like a plumber. Didn't want to deny that (ability to do his work). Just didn't want storage of all kinds of other things. Applicant had said he won't. Want to make sure that it was clear they don't want it either. S. Bonczar asked for a **motion on the condition.** 

M. Thornton moved to add the condition.

R. Costantino seconded.

Vote on the Condition:

M. Thornton - yes

R. Costantino – yes J. Plourde – yes W. Campbell – yes S. Bonczar – yes

\

### **VOTE:** On Special Exception <u>With the Condition:</u>

1. Is the Special Exception allowed by the ordinance?

R. Costantino – yes J. Plourde – yes W. Campbell – yes M. Thornton – yes S. Bonczar – yes

**2.** Are all the specified conditions present under which the Special Exception may be granted?

M. Thornton – yes W. Campbell – yes J. Plourde – yes R. Costantino – yes S. Bonczar - yes

S. Bonczar said the criteria for Special Exception having been satisfied with the intent of the condition previously voted on, the application was approved. He informed the applicant the application was approved and reminded applicant of the 30-day appeal period.